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1. Name of Property

historic name  Covered Bridge Historic District

other names/site ntimher Opdycke/Sergeant Mill.

2. Location
] . N/A o
street & number. Route 604; Upper Creek, Lower Creek. Pine Hill Rdgq [ not for publication

city or town Delaware Township ___ [ vicinity

state  New Jersey code NJ  county Hunterdon code 019 zip code 08557
3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this ® nomination

1 request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property

S meets 1 does/lot meet the NationahRegister criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant
1 nationally 3 stjffewide IxI locMlyf/flr/See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

/kh

Signature of certJjyiflfefficial/Title Date

Asslstgfr Commissioner fnr Nat-nral A Hlston'n Rp-.”ources/DSHPO
State of Fe”™ agency and bureau

In my opiMon, the property 1 meets 1 does not meet the National Register criteria. (1 See continuation sheet for additional
comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification
| herebycertify that the property is: nature of t Date of Action
O entered in the National Register.
D See continuation sheet.
1 determined eligible for the

National Register
D See continuation sheet.

1 determined not eligible for the
National Register.

1 removed from the National
Register.

1 other, (explain:)



Covered Bridge HD
Name of Property
5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property

(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box)
Xl private | bgild_ing(s)
IXI public-local [XI district
[ public-state 1 site

[ structure
[ object

O public-Federal

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter “N/A” if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Domestic/single family
Transportatlon/road related
Educatlon/school
Agricultural/storage

Industry/manufacturing facility

7. Description

Architecturai Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

Georgian
Other: I-house

Narrative Description

Hunterdon, NJ
County and State

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.),

Contributing Noncontributing
7 7 _ buildings
. Sites
. structures
. objects
8 . Total

Number of contributing resources previousiy listed
in the National Register

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

DomesStic/single family

Transportation/road related
Agricultural/storage

Materials

(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation

Walls stons
weatherhoaxd-

roof. synthetic

other.

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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The Covered Bridge Historic District is located in the Pied-
mont physiographic province of northern New Jersey in southwestern
Hunterdon County on Wickecheoke Creek several miles upstream from
its confluence with the Delaware River where the creek and its
small tributary Cold Run cut through the uplands at the southern
edge of the Hunterdon Plateau. The district comprises a mill
hamlet/farmstead clustered around the landmark covered bridge car-
rying County Route 604 over Wickecheoke Creek and the intersection
of three township roads running along the creek, bridge and water
power sites certainly in use by the time of the Revolutionary War,
and probably as early as the 1750s. The district is heavily wooded
along the two streams with open farmland occupying much of the
upland in its southeastern quarter. The surrounding landscape
presents a similar mix of wooded and open land with scattered
farmsteads and modern single family dwellings.

The Covered Bridge district contains five dwellings with
outbuildings, three bridges, a large barn complex, and two mill
sites. An inventory of the all the district’s resources forms part
of this section, and individual resources have been categorized as
"contributing” or "non-contributing” to the district’s historical
significance. The contributing resources include three 18th-cen-
tury houses (site #s 4, 5, and 7), two 19th-century bridges (site
#s 2 and 6), one 19th-century school house which has been converted
into a dwelling (site #11), one 19th-century barn site (site #9),
two 18/19th-century mill sites (site #sl and 8), and several 19th-
century outbuilding. Non-contributing resources are limited to a
bridge (site #3), a house (site #10), a barn (site #9), and several
outbuildings, all dating to the 20th century. One resource, the
covered bridge (site #2), is individually listed on the New Jersey
and National Registers of Historic Places.

The district’s historic buildings are stone or frame, gable-
roofed, vernacular structures of moderate size, that date to the
18th or first three quarters of the 19th century and exhibit simple
detailing typical of that era. Most have been enlarged or refur-
bished over the years. Modern improvements, while resulting in the
loss or obscuring of early fabric and detailing in some cases, have
been neither numerous nor disfiguring enough to mar the historic
architectural character of the district. The buildings, with the
notable exception of one ruinous small barn (site #4), are general-
ly in good condition and well maintained. District buildings have
a scattered distribution and, for the most part, are situated on
large lots, but have the fairly short setbacks from the road. A
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picket fence delineates the dooryard of one house (site #7).

The district’s architecture is representative of the region’s
vernacular construction practices and building types during the
18th and early 19th-century period. The three historic houses
(site #s 4, 5, and 7) and "Sergeant’s" or School District #95
schoolhouse (site #11) are of traditional course rubble stone
construction utilizing argillite, the fine-grain sedimentary rock
known locally as "blue jingler,” and either pointed or stuccoed.
The masonry of Opdycke-Sergeant House (site #7, photo #s 8 - 10)
exhibits attempted refinements distinguishing it from that of other
district buildings: the ashlar patterning of roughly squared blocks
laid in fairly regular courses on the front wall (in contrast to
the coursed rubble stonework of the other elevations), the water
table at the first story level, and the flat lintels of rough-cut,
splayed stones spanning the first-story windows and entries. Of
particular note is the date stone set over the front entry bearing
the clumsily carved inscription "M/l 0 1754" for the initials of
John and Margaret Opdycke and construction date of the house. The
Opdycke-Sergeant House and the Opdycke-Sergeant Miller’s House
(site #5, photo #5) are also good example of the traditional house-
type known as the "I-type,” a 2-story, gable-roofed dwelling with
single-pile-plan and gable-end chimneys, popular throughout the
Delaware Valley in the 18th and 19th centuries. The original
portions of both houses are two-room-plan versions of the type, and
both evidence the lateral expansion through extension of the origi-
nal unit which is characteristic of the region’s early domestic
architecture. While the facade of the miller’s house has a two-
over-three bay fenestration more reflective of folk practices, the
symmetrical 3-bay facade of the Opdyke-Sergeant House reveals the
influence of the Georgian style, as do the classically derived
moldings of dwelling’s large box cornice and architrave window
trim. The district’s other historic dwelling, the Sergeant-Reading
Tenant House (site #4, photo. #2), is representative of the tradi-
tional | and 1/2-story house types popular at an early date, and
features an irregular fenestration and a gable-end lean-to. The
exterior of district buildings exhibits little in the way of decora-
tive embellishment, except for the Georgian-derived detailing of
the Opdycke-Sergeant House and the modest Colonial Revival style
trim added to the others in this century (site #s 4, 5, and 11).

The School District #95 schoolhouse is the district’s one
institutional resource (site #11, photo #15). Built in 1830 and
enlarged in 1874, the stone, 1-story, gable-roofed building, is
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representative of the modest school houses erected to serve the
rural region throughout the 19th century.

Outbuildings are found at several district )
el LS A T LRSI prS R S5, 3 38R REH
shed/barn with stone ground story (site #5, photo #6) Nig
1/2-story wagon house with gable-end entries ——
The site of the 19th—centur)6 barns appurtenant to the o,
Sergeant House is occupied by a complex of 20th-century farm build-
ings (site #9, photo #s 12 and 14) whose principal element is the
frame barn erected in 1929 shortly after its predecessor was de-
stroved bv fire, possibly incorporating portions of the foundations
of the earlier barn. While the construction date of the replace-
ment barn falls outside of the district’s period of significance,
its form and detailing reflect that of barns
earlier. The adjoining double crib/wagon shed,
dates to around the same time, even more clearly mimics a distinc

tive 19th-century outbuilding type.

‘

The district also contains two transportation-related resour-
ces _the New Jersey and National Register-listed covered bridge,
p:;;iarly known as“Green Sergeant’s bridge after ———~P-"®
the community at the time of its construction in 1872, and the 1849
stone arched bridge carrying Pine Hill Road oyer Cold ]
onlv surviving example of its type in the state, the covered bridge
(site #2, photo #s 1 and 4) is a heavy timber, modified Warren
truss with a gable roof and board-and-batten siding. was disa -
sembled and rebuilt in 1961 on steel girders, at which time its
stone _abutments,which may have survived from the .
the site, were rebuilt and reinforced with concrete and jteel rods.
A new steel and concrete span with stone PM7MP~ s (site #3) was
erected beside the old bridge for west bound traffic. A good
example of the region’s traditional stone bridge construction. Cold
Run Lidge (site #6, photo #7) is a single-arch span of coursed

rubble stone construction whose barrel vault

ends outlined with cut-stone voussoirs. Its
tures are the shallow, square-cornered insets in the
ing the arch rings and articulating their spandrels. A ®®"

into the outside upstream parapet is inscribed wi the date 1849
an”~the name of "mLon, P.pDﬁPe," presumably chie buﬁder as well

as the initials of five other individuals who probably participated
in its construction.
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The sites of grist and saw mills constitute the district s
industrial resources. The site of the 18th/19th-century Opdycke-
Sergeant grist mill (site #8), located on Cold Run just upstream
from Pine Hill Road, encompasses the level site of the mill (no
above-grade foundation remains are evident of the building which
was demolished in the 1930s) and portions of its hydrosystem in-
cluding remnants of the tail race and the mill pond dam. The
Sergeant saw mill site (site #1) is located on the east bank of
Wickecheoke Creek downstream from the covered bridge and evidently
dates to the early/mid 19th century. A large, low rectangular
mound of stones located in the narrow strip of land between the
creek and Lower Creek Road appears to be foundation remnants of the

mill.

An inventory of all structures and sites within the district
has been prepared as part of this description. Each principal
structure and site is identified by a number which locates it on
the accompanying district map. AIll entries have been categorized
as "contributing” or "non-contributing” to the significance of the
district. All outbuildings, other than small modern shed, are
identified as contributing or non-contributing with the designa-
tions (C) and (NO and are included in the resource counts.
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Covered Bridge District Inventory

Sergeant Saw Mill Site. A large, low rectangular mound of
stones located in the narrow strip of land between the
road and the creek constitutes the foundation remnants of
the saw mill operated by the Sergeant family during the
middle decades of the 19th century which may have been
established much earlier. No trace of its hydrosystem is

evident
Style: none

Date: early/mid 19th century. Depicted on the 1860 map,
the saw mill presumably was extant by 1838, since the road
return of that year for the survey of Lower Creek Road
begins at the "butments of the bridge over the creek near
Green Sergeants Mills at a stake between the race and the
creek” (Hunterdon County Road File 20-4-5). A raceway at
that location would not have been necessary for mill
operations at the grist mill site upstream (site # 8) but
could have served as the saw mill head race.

Contributing B31/L1

Hunterdon County Bridge # D-304A, Green Sergeant's Covered
Bridge, (listed on the NJ and National Registers in 1974).
Wooden truss bridge constructed of heavy timber trusses
(modified Warren truss), refurbished and reset in 1961 on
steel brackets which project from the steel girders sup-
porting the trusses and the wooden road deck beams and
planking, with board and batten siding and a gable roof

clad with wooden shingles. The stone abutments were re-
built and reinforcerd with concrete and steel rods in 1961.

Style: none

Date: erected 1872, on earlier, possibly 18th-century
stone abutments; disassembled and rebuilt in 1961. Ac-
cording to the 1974 NR nomination, Charles Ogden Holcombe
of Lambertville designed the bridge and served as the
chief carpenter; he was assisted by Peter Sibley and
masons Ely and Charles Everitt. By the late 18th century
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there was a wooden bridge supported bv stone abutments and
piers on the site which was extensively repaired in 1787
and 1797 (Hunterdon County Freeholder Minutes, Vol. 1, pp.
131-33, 243, and 246-47).

Description: In addition to the trusses, 90% of the roof
rafters, 60% of the siding, and some deck planking of the
old bridge are said to have been incorporated into the
rebuilt span; the louvered side widows were introduced in
1961 (Green Sergeant’s Covered Bridge, NR nomination,
1974). Wrought iron tension eye bars and hanging rods
noted in the 1937 HABS survey evidently were removed in
the 1961 work (HABS-NJ-442, data sheets, page 1).

Contributing

Hunterdon County Bridge # D-304B, Single-span, concrete-
deck bridge with steel girders, stone-faced parapet walls,
and stone-faced concrete abutments. Midway bn the down-

stream parapet is set a bronze dedication plaque inscribed
with the 1961 construction date and the names of the local

officials involved in the project.
Style: none Date: 1961

Non-Contributing

Sergeant/Reading Tenant House. Stuccoed-stone, 1 and 1/2-
story, gable-roofed, 3-bay, probably single-pile-plan
dwelling with a west-gable-end interior chimney (stuccoed
stack) and shed-roofed appendage and a modern, exterior,
east-gable-end stoi®e chimney; a long, low, stuccoed-stone
hyphen at the east end of the rear elevation connects to
a slightly higher and wider frame addition with a shed

appendage.
Style: Colonial Revival embellishment

Date; 18th or early 19th century; remodeled mid 20th. In
his 1833 wvill Charles Sergeant’ devised this property,

"the lot whereon Joseph Slack now lives,” to his daughter
Elizabeth Reading, during her widowhood, and thereafter to
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her son Charles (Hunterdon County Wills, book 6, page 43).

Description: Early exterior features include boxed over-
hanging eaves, shed rear dormer, multi-pane sash windows
with batten shutters, a west end-bay front entry with
Colonial Revival surround and door. The frame rear appen-
dage with clapboard siding and stone foundation probably
is of 19th-century provenance. The fenestration of the
front elevation may have been reworked, as suggested by
the different window sizes and unusual end-bay location of
the entry relative to the gable-end chimney placement.

The oversized window of the off-center front middle bay
possibly replaces the original entry, and the present
entry concurrently may have been inserted in the west end-
bay window. If such is the case, the house would have had
an off-center front entry and flanking windows, a fenes-
tration more typical of the region’s early architecture.

Outbuildings: (1) small, frame, gable-roofed 1-story shed
(c. 1998, or earlier and rebuilt) on block piers and with
unpainted clapboard siding; (2) across the road on block
31l/lot | is the collapsing, roofless frame of a 2-bay,

English barn (early/mid 19th) which retains vertical sid-
ing on its front. The frame incorporates mostly hewn

timber, and strap hinge pintles survive from the removed
doors on the west bay wagon entry which has been obscured

by a modern shed appendage (C).
Contributing B19/L1 and B31/L1

Qpdycke/Sergeant Miller’s House. Partially stuccoed,
coursed rubble, 2-story, gable-roofed, single-pile-plan
dwelling. built in/two parts, consisting of a 2-over-3-
bay, two-room-plan original block with interior west-
gable-end chimney (brick stack) and a 2-bay, east exten-
sion with interior east-gable-end chimney (brick stack).

Style: Colonial Revival embellishment

Date: 18th or early 19th century. While the original

portion of the miller’s house might be as early as 1740,
the undocumented construction date given by the HABS sur-
veyor in 1937 (NJ-455, data sheets 1 and 2) on the ques-
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tionable assumption that the simple house must be earlier
than the more elaborate 1754 Opdyke house (site #8), a
later construction date is just as possible on the basis

of its construction and detailing.

Descriotion: The exterior features wood shingle roof,
simple box cornices, flush raking eaves, 6/6 sash windows
with plain trim on the original portion and architrave
trim on the extension, timber lintels above the first-
story windows, paneled shutters with S-shaped shutter dogs
on the front windows (raid 20th), and two recessed front
entries with simple trim, board-lined reveals and batten
and panel doors, either reworked earlier doors or replace-

ments.

Outbuildings: Across the road on block 18/lot 16 is (1)
is a small, 2-bay barn/wagon house (19th century, re-
modeled mid 20th3/ of frame construction above the stone
ground story and featuring a wagon entry with batten
doors, board-and-batten siding, and paneled shutters on
the two upper story windows (obviously a 20th-century em-
bellishment); the L-shaped stone wall extending from the
west end probably survives from an early appendage (C).

Contributing B34/L22 & B18/L16

Hunterdon County Bridge # D-329. Single-arch, stone
bridge of coursed rubble stone construction whose barrel

yault features arch rings of cut-stone voussoirs at both
ends. Shallow, square-cornered insets in the masonry
frame the arch rings and articulate their spandrels.

The parapet walls, capped with irregularly shaped flat
stones, appear to "ave been repaired, and the road bed has

been raised making them seem low.

Style: none

Date; 1849; a plaque set in the outside upstream parapet
iIs inscribed with the date 1849 and the name of "mason, P.
Dyke," presumably its chief builder, as well as presumably
the initials of five other individuals, "J. S. + W. S., W.
E., N. M. + C. M." who probably participated in its con-
struction. While Pine Hill Road was surveyed in 1849
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(Hunterdon County Road File 20-9-5), the Board of Chosen
Freeholder Minutes of 1849 and 1850 include no mention of

the construction of the bridge.

Contributing

Qpdycke/Sergeant House. Stone, 2-story, gable-roofed,
single-pile-plan dwelling. built in two parts, consisting
of a 3-bay, two-room-plan original block with interior
gable-end chimneys (brick stacks) and a 2-bay, east exten-
sion with interior east-gable-end chimney (brick stack).

Style: Georgian influences

Date: 1754; a rectangular stone set over the front door of
the original block bears the somewhat crudely carved in-
scription "M/l 0 1754" which has long been interpreted as
the initials of John Opdycke and his wife Margaret and
commemorating Opdycke’s construction of the house (Op Dykp

Genealogy, page 262).

Description: In contrast to the coursed rubble stonework
of the other elevations, the masonry of the front wall of
the original house exhibits an ashlar patterning of rough-
ly squared blocks laid in fairly regular courses. The
stonework is also distinguished by a water table at the
first story level and flat lintels of cut, splayed stones
spanning the first-story windows and entries. Other early
features include the large box cornice with robust crown
molding and the architrave window trim of the east exten-
sion windows. While the east gable cornice returns may be
early fabric, the returns and overhanging raking eaves of
the west gable are .a post—1887 alteration (the photograph
of the house in the 1888 Op Dyke Genealogy, page 262a,
evidently was taken in the previous year). The 2/2 sash
windows also are post-1887 replacements (multi-pane win-
dows can be barely seen in the c. 1887 photograph), as are
the frames of the west windows. The central front entry
of the original block has an outer surround with a large
ovolo molding, board-lined reveals, and a glass-and-panel
replacement door. The shed-roofed rear porch with a stone
base and square piers is a 20th-century addition.
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Outbuildings: (1) Frame, 1 and 1/2-story, wagon house
(mid-19th century) constructed of both hewn and saw-cut
timber and with vertical siding, overhanging eaves, and
batten sliding doors (C); (2) frame shed or privy. The c
1887 photograph of the house reveals that there was a
long, low, possibly stone shed to the northwest of the
house and two small frame sheds at the northwest corner o;
the wagon house. The small front yard is enclosed along
the road edge by a picket fence which extends to the west
towards the Pine Hill Road corner. The barn complex
associated with the house (site #9) is located on the
south side of the road, and a grist mill (site #8. once
stood a short distance north of the house; a mill stone
lying in the front yard probably is from the mill.

Contributing B21/L7

Oodvcke/Sergeant Grist Mill Site. A level area on the
south side of Cold Run about 100 feet east of Pine Hill
Road was the mill site. Although no foundation remnants
are evident (the site is heavily overgrown with brush),
documentary sources indicate that it stood with its gable
ends roughly parallel to the creek and that the short row
of stones near the northwest corner of the site probably
iIs a remnant of its tail race(Op Dyke Genealogy, c. 1887
photo, page 262a; Hunterdon County Road File 20-9-30,
survey map). Remnants of the mill pond dam, including
stones and earth berm fragments, are located about 300
feet upstream from Pine Hill Road on block 21/lot 6, where
the constriction of the stream valley provided a natural
place for its construction, and the 1851 county map indi-
cates that the pond extended upstream as far as what is
now Reading Road. Both the 1851 and 1860 maps also depict
a building on the north side of the creek, opposite or
slightly east of the grist mill site; there are, however,
no remains evident.

Style: none

Date: 18th century, possibly c. 1754 and contemporary with
the house. One secondary source gives 1745 as its con-

struction date but provides no supporting documentary
evidence (J. M. Hoppock, "Sergeant Mansion and Mill,”
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Democratic-Advertizer, December 5, 1901). The earliest
known documentary reference to a mill at this location
dates to 1773 (Hunterdon County Mortgages, Book 1, page
200). The mill ceased operation between 1901 and 1905
(1901 Hoppock article and J. M. Hoppock, "The Old Sergeant
Mill,” Democratic-Advertizer, July 20, 1905). The
deteriorated structure was demolished in the 1930s, and
its foundation stone sold to construct a swimming pool on
the nearby Rosemont farm of Paul Whiteman (Marfy Good-
speed, The Miller*s House, page 29).

Description: The documentary sources mentioned above provide
other information about the appearance of the mill and its
hydrosystem. The mill had an embanked stone ground story,
totally below grade on the south end, and a frame. 1 and
1/2-story, gable-roofed upper level with roof ridge per-
pendicular to the stream. The frame portion was entered
at grade on the south gable end which had a hoist overhang
at the gable peak above the attic loft entry. An overshot
wheel was located on the west side (the wheel extant in
1905 is said to have measured 22 feet in diameter, its
predecessor measuring 24 feet; Hoppock, 1905). A wooden
fume running to the southwest corner of the mill from the
bank behind the house carried water to the wheel. Unless,
the fume had a right angled bend, which is highly unlike-
ly, its south end must have intersected with a head race
running along the bank from the mill pond; no trace of any
head race, however, h'as survived.

Contributing B21/L7

Sergeant Barn Site/Johnson Barns. Long, frame, 2-story,
gable-roofed barn (~consisting of at least two laterally
Jjoined sections) with a shed extension at the east end of
the north side, a smaller shed appendage to its west with
a concrete block milk house at its west end, and a con-

crete silo at the northwest corner.

Style: none

Date; rebuilt in 1929 after fire destroyed its 19th-
century predecessor and evidently incorporating part of
the earlier barn foundations.
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Oiit.huildings: (1) Frame double-crib/wagoa ghed ¢
20th) with canted side w?”lls, vertical siding, and batten
sliding doors INC); (2) two frame equipment s”™e”™ mid

20th) INC); and (3) frame pole barji (c. 1970s) INC).

Contributing (site) B34/L21
Non-contributing (barn)

Lawrence Johnson House. Frame, 1 and 1/2-story, gable-
roofed, 13-bay dwelling with an exterior, stone. "®st-
gable-end chimney and a 1l-bay garage attached to the east

end by an enclosed porch..

Style: Colonial Revival influences

Date: 1949 (October, 1998 inteview with Lawrence Johnson)

Non-contributing B21/L6

District School #95, Sergeant’s. School. Stone, i
gable-roofed, 5-bay forméer schoolhou”™ (now converted in
a dwelling) built In two sections (a 3-bay unit and 2-bay

extension) and with a frame 2-bay west appendage.

Style: Colonial Revival embellishment
Date: 1830, enlarged 1872 (Snell, page 378)

Exterior features include boxed overhanging

sash windows with timber lintels and louvered shutters,
and a west-inner-bay entry with a transom and pimple
Colonial Revival surround. The projection of the windo
lintels suggests that the building was originally stuc-
coed; the double east-gable-end window appears to be alte-

ration.

Outbuildings: (1) frame, 2-bay garage (mid 20th) (NC).

Contributing B22/L.29
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x” in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the properly
for National Register listing.)

@ A Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of

our history.

[0 B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

S C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or

represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and

distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

1 D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

[ A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

1 B removed from its original location.

1 C a birthplace or grave.

0 Da cemetery.

[ E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
[0 Fa commemorative property.

[ G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

9. Major Bibliographical References
Bibliography

Hunterdon, NJ
County and State

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Settlement
Architecture

Transportation

Period of Significance
1754-1901

Significant Dates

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder
Unknown

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

I preliminary determination of individual listing (36
CFR 67) has been requested

[ previously listed in the National Register

[ previously determined eligible by the National
Register

[ designated a National Historic Landmark

[ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey
#H

1 recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #

Primary location of additional data:
O State Historic Preservation Office

[ Other State agency
[ Federal agency
[ Local government
[ University
[ Other

Name of repository:
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Name of Property County and State

10. Geographical Data
Acreage of Property approx. 97 acres Stockton, NJ Quad

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)
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E See continuation sheet
Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

namettitle, Dennis N. Bertland

organization Dennis Bertland Associates Hntp  October, 1998
street & number telephone

city or town. Port Murray state 2ip code

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets
Maps
A uses map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional Items)

Property Owner
(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name.

street & number. telephone.

city or town state. zip code.

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain
a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing

instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or ™y as[®
of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of

Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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The Covered Bridge Historic District possesses significance
under Criteria A and C in the areas of settlement pattern, trans-
portation, and architecture. The hamlet, known as Opdycke’s and
subsequently Sergeant’s Mill after its 18th and 19th-century pro-
prietors, exemplifies the smallest of the agglomerate settlements
that proliferated throughout the region in the 18th and 19th cen-
turies to serve its dispersed agricultural population but, isolated
from the path of 19th-century transportation improvements, never
grew beyond their formative stage. The district’s architectural
significance stems from its modest, early stone dwellings whose
construction, form, detailing, and spatial organization are repre-
sentative of the rural region’s domestic architecture in the 18th/
early 19th-century era. It possesses significance in the area of
transportation because of its landmark 1872 covered bridge, which
is individually listed on the New Jersey and National Registers of
Historic Places and the only surviving example of its type in the
state, and the 1849 Cold Run bridge, a good example of Hunterdon
County’s 19th-century stone arch bridges, whose inset arch ring/
spandrel walls are a distinctive regional construction feature. In
addition, archaeological resources may be present at the district’s
two mill sites, as well as in the environs of district buildings,
which potentially could yield significant information about the
small-scaled water-powered industry once characteristic of the
region and its 18th and 19th-century material culture.

While a farmstead and probably a grist mill were established
at what is now the covered bridge crossing of Wickecheoke Creek by
the 1750s, perhaps some years earlier, and a hamlet had coalesced
there by the end of the 18th century, the settlement experienced
little growth during the 19th century, except for a saw mill and
district school, but continued as a stable, limited service commu-
nity throughout the period. Such mill hamlets, often owned by one
individual or family and consisting of little more than the farm-
stead and mills of the proprietor, as well as a few tenant houses,
(and perhaps commercial, institutional, or other industrial compo-
nents such as a store, school, or artisan shop), constituted a
distinctive feature of the region’s early settlement pattern. Ac-
cess was a critical factor influencing the growth of these commu-
nities. Sergeant’s Mill was over a mile off the main road leading
from Flemington, the county seat, to the important Delaware River
crossing at Howell’s Ferry (present day Stockton) where a toll
bridge was erected in 1812-14, and neighborhood enterprises gravi-
tated to a nearby crossroads on that route where the village of
Sergeantsville subsequently developed. Both Sergeant's Mill and
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Sergeantsville were bypassed during the 19th-century canal and
railroad building booms when business activity in western Hunterdon
County was attracted to the Delaware River towns with those trans-
portation connections. Sergeant’s grist mill ceased operation in
the early 1900s, and except for the loss of its industrial build-
ings, the Wickecheoke Creek hamlet has changed relatively little

since that time.®

Although scattered residential development has occurred
throughout the surrounding area in recent decades, the Covered
Bridge Historic District has managed to preserve much of its 19th-
century character. A majority of the district’s buildings date to
the 18th and 19th centuries, as do its roads and bridges, and the
distinctive historical character of the hamlet results from the
survival of these elements in a generally good state of preser-
vation, their scattered spatial organization with buildings typi-
cally having a short setback from the road, and the integrity of
the landscape setting. Of the district’s historic buildings, how-
ever, it is the early stone dwellings which establish its architec-
tural significance. In their form, construction, detailing, and
siting, they provide a representative illustration of the rural
region’s early domestic architecture, its roots in traditional
building practices, as well as the impact of formal stylistic in-
fluences. The Opdycke-Sergeant Miller’s House (site #5, photo #5)
and the Opdycke-Sergeant House (site #7, photo #s 8 - 10), for
example, are good examples of the traditional house-type -ubiqui-
tous in the Delaware Valley- known as the "I-type,” as is the
Sergeant-Reading Tenant House (site #4, photo #2) of the tradi-
tional 1 and 1/2-story house types also popular regionally at an
early date. While the informal window and door arrangement on the
front of the tenant and miller’s houses reflects folk practice, the
symmetrical fenestration pattern of the Opdycke-Sergeant House’s
front elevation reveals the influence of the Georgian style, as
does its robustly molded coi™nice, one of the few decorative details
evidenced by these dwellings. Perhaps their most important fea-
ture, however, is their pointed and stuccoed, coursed rubble stone-
work, a notable expression of the region’s traditional masonry
construction. The stonework of the Opdycke-Sergeant House also is
distinguished by attempts at refinement which make it the dis-
trict’s most architecturally ambitious dwelling, including the
crude ashlar patterning of the front wall, the flat-arched, splayed
stone window and door lintels, and, not least of all, the stone
above the front door bearing the clumsily carved inscription "M/l 0
1754" which has long been interpreted as the initials of John
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Opdycke and his wife Margaret and commemorating Opdycke’s construc-
tion of the house.}

Traditional stone construction techniques were also employed
for the 1849 Cold Run Bridge (site #6, photo #7), a good example of
the stone arch bridges built in Hunterdon County between about 1820
and 1900. According to the recent Hunterdon County stone arch
bridge survey these bridges resulted

almost exclusively... from the response of a local agri-
cultural community to the need for better roads for the
support of agriculture...[and were] built in a native
craft tradition, showing only minor refinements, and
untouched by the technological improvements of stone
bridge construction of the late 19th century.®

The inset arch ring/spandrel walls of the Cold Run Bridge are one
such refinement and a feature exhibited by a number of bridges in
southern Hunterdon County (but never by the more crudely built
spans found mostly in the northern part of the county), as well as
some in Bucks County, Pa. This feature is thought to have been a
way to make a

visible transition between the arch and associated
spandrel wall, and the curved, battered, or flared wing
walls, without involving the builder in complicated
stone cutting......... It is likely that the arch ring and
the spandrel wall were constructed first, followed by
the construction of the wingwalls and the parapets.

In this case, building the wingwalls and parapet on a
different plane than the arch ring eases the task of
completing the transition.®

Although the chain-of-bitie for the farm and mill property
encompassed by the Covered Bridge Historic District can be traced
back without break only to the early 1800s when it passed from the
Opdyckes to the Sergeant family, something of its 18th-century
history can be established from a number of primary and secondary
sources. The portion of the district located roughly south of
Route 604 formed the northwestern corner of 437-acre tract surveyed
in 1712 for Dorothy Medcalf "in right of her daughters,” her late
husband, Mathew Medcalf of Gloucester County, New Jersey, having by
his 1710 will devised to them his right to unappropriated property
in western New Jersey which he had acquired through the colony’s
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system of proprietary landholding.® The Medcalf tract formed part
of the 150,000-acre "Lotting Purchase"” acquired for the West Jersey
Proprietors from its native American owners in 1702.” While there
is no record of the Medcalfs divesting themselves of the property,
a 1742 mortgage for an adjoining parcel refers to it as the "land
formerly surveyed to Medcalf now Edward Milner,” establishing that
the latter was its owner by that time.® A resident of Bucks
County, Pa., Edward Milner evidently had moved to "Amwell, New
Jersey” (the large Hunterdon County township which then include the
district site) by 1738 and may have acquired title to the Medcalf
tract around that time.® In 1743 Milner mortgaged the property
(less 111 acres at its southwest corner sold by him to John Quick)
to the Hunterdon County Loan Office, which obligation he discharged
between 1744 and 1750.1® Little is known about the early history
of the portion of the district to the north of Milner tract, other
than that it formed the southwest corner of a 2,700-acre property
belonging to Nathan Allen.ii

Although it can not be documented by any recorded instrument,
John Opdycke evidently acquired title to the land straddling the
boundary between the Milner and Allen tracts later owned by his
descendants sometime before 1754, the date accompanying his ini-
tials and those of his wife on the stone set in the front wall of
the main house there. Of Dutch descent, he was born in 1710 in
Maidenhead (Lawrenceville), New Jersey, and married Margaret Green,
daughter of Samuel Green, about 1737, by which time he was the
owner of a 450-acre, Amwell Township tract located a few miles east
of Wickecheoke Creek in the vicinity of where the mill hamlet of
Headquarters subsequently developed, and adjoining lands belonging
to his father-in-law and brother-in-law. Opdycke may have received
the property from Samuel Green, a prominent land surveyor and
Hunterdon County official, who had extensive landholdings in north-
western New Jersey including considerable property in the Headquar-
ters neighborhood. 1 * Opdyck/e presumably was an Amwell Township
resident by 1738, in which year he was registered as a voter
there.13 Family traditions recorded in the late 19th century
maintain that John Opdycke *"first built and lived in the stone
house on his farm...near Headquarters" and subsequently built and
occupied "Headquarters House,” a large stone center-hall dwelling
with 1758 date stone. Family informants also recounted that he not
was only the proprietor of a thriving settlement at Headquarters
encompassing his farm, grist mill, store, and tavern, but built and
gave a mill and house to three of his sons, the farm and mill at
the confluence of Cold Run and Wickecheoke Creek going to his son
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Samuel. The 1754 date stone bearing his initials is good evi-
dence that John Opdycke owned and was actively engaged in devel-
oping the Wickecheoke Creek property at that time; he may well have
lived there for some years and occupied the 1754 stone house before
his larger and more architecturally sophisticated house at Head-
guarters was erected. The date stone also provides the earliest
documentation of any settlement on the property. European settle-
ment of southern Hunterdon County began in the first decades of the
18th century, however, and it is not unlikely that pioneer agricul-
turalist occupied some portion of the Milner and Allen tracts long
before 1754.is while the mill on Cold Run may well have been built
by John Opdycke around the same time as house, as claimed by his
descendants, the earliest known documentary reference to a mill
there is a 1773 mortgage for property in the vicinity which de-
scribes present day Route 604 as the "Great Road from Tyson’s Mill

to Opdycke's Mill."i®

John Opdycke died in 1777, and his wvill, written and probated
in that year, designates his son Samuel "of the township of Am-
well”, as one of his two executors, and bequeaths to him

one Negro man Robbin by name, one Cow, one wind mill to
clean corn together also with all necessary tools and
Utensils belonging to the Grist Mill.”?Y

Samuel Opdycke was twenty-one years old in 1770, and the farm and

mill property _must have passed from father to son sometime that
year and the” father’s death.On the 1778 Amwell Township tax

role, the earliest one surviving for the municipality, Samuel
Opdycke was assessed for 193 acres of improved land, 33 acres
unimproved, 4 horses, 6 head of cattle, 8 hogs, "1 old slave,” a
grist mill, and two stills, and he was listed with much the same
taxable property on the 1780, 1786, and 1790 township tax roles.
f

On June 18, 1787 the Hunterdon County Board of Chosen Free-
holders met "at Samuel Oppdyke’s....[and] proceeded to examine the
propriety of Repairing a bridge on Whichicoke Creek near Samuel
Obdike’s mill.” No doubt concerned with ensuring good access to
his mill, Opdycke agreed to keep "the pillars and buttments of the
aforesaid bridge in good repair...at his own expense" for a period
of 50 years, and the Freeholders appropriated 10 pounds for repairs
to the wooden bridge itself.2° Ten years later the bridge again
was in need of repair, and the Freeholders authorized Samuel Op-
dycke and John Arwine to undertake the necessary work as specified
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at a cost of S200.21 His proprietary interest in the bridge is
perhaps reflected in the reference to it as "Samuel Opdycke’s
bridge"” in a 1795 road petition for a new road down the creek.**
According to the family history, Opdycke also held the local town-
ship offices of Overseer of Roads and Constable in 1779, and the
first named post again in 1781 and 1789.*®

Opdycke became involved in a number of law suits in the 1790s
and began to experience financial difficulties which resulted on
one occasion with the court ordering the county sheriff to levy on
certain of his goods and property.** He mortgaged his farm and
mill property to Jacob Holcombe in 1796 for 300 pounds and again in
1798 for 500 pounds. The second mortgage, which gives Opdycke's
occupation as "miller,” refers to the property as "ac(pording to the
several purchases thereof made and now in the possession of Samuel
Opdycke containing in the whole 207 acres"*® Opdycke was again in
court in 1799, and it must have been around that time, although no
deed was recorded, that he conveyed the property to his late wife
Susannah’s father Joseph Robeson, possibly as a means to protect
his children’s inheritance from potential creditors. This would
explain why it was that the heirs of Joseph Robeson and not those
of Samuel Opdycke sold the land after the death of both men in

1801.*6

In 1804 John Opdycke, Samuel Opdycke’s son, gained title to
the 207-acre farm and mill property, purchasing the shares belong-
ing to three of his sisters and co-heirs of their grandfather
Robeson for $3,000.* On the day of that conveyance, he gave
mortgages of $1,000 each to his one unmarried sister and the hus-
bands of the other two. The mortgage given to his brother-in-law

David LaTourette describes the property as

the homestead place of his father Samuel Opdycke and
the same on which his grandfather Joseph Robeson lived
and owned at the time &f his death.*®

In the interim between the 1801 death of Joseph Robeson and the
1804 sale of the property, David LaTourette may have lived there
and operated the mill since on the 1803 Amwell Township tax role he
was assessed for 130 acres of land and a grist mill.*®

John Opdycke retained ownership of the family homestead for
little more than a year, selling it on April 1, 1805 to Charles
Sergeant for 2,500 pounds, reduced in size to 130 acres by the
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subdivision of several lots form its north end.”o Charles Sergeant
owned and presumably resided on the property until his death in
1833. Born in 1760, the son of Joseph and Mary Sergeant, he mar-
ried Sarah Green in 1788, a union which produced five children who
lived to adulthood.31 The 1830 census lists the households of
Charles Sergeant, his son Richard Green Sergeant, and one Joseph
Slack in consecutive order. Since Charles Sergeant’s 1833 wvill
establishes that Joseph Slack was his tenant living in the stone
house on the west side of the creek (site #4), if Charles lived in
the main house (site #7), then his son Green Sergeant must have
been residing in the dwelling in. between, the so called miller’s
house (site #5). Green probably was operating the farm and/or the
mill for his elderly father at the time of the census, possibly
with the assistance of tenant Joseph Slack.3* The hamlet also
acquired one notable addition in 1830, when Charles Sergeant al-
lowed a stone schoolhouse (site #11) to be erected on the east side
of his farm along the road to Sergeantsville.33 Charles Sergeant’s
1833 inventory provides some information about the grist mill (site
#8) and its operation, indicating that it had a lower story where
casks were stored and that corn, buckwheat, oats, and rye were
stored, and presumably processed, there.3«

Upon Charles Sergeant’s death the 130-acre property passed to
his son Green, except for the 9-acre lot on the west side of the
creek occupied by Joseph Slack which he left to his daughter Eliza-
beth Reading during her widowhood, and thereafter to her son Char-
les Reading.35 Born in 1795 and married to Margaret Besson in
1825, Green Sergeant, like his father, owned and apparently occu-
pied the property until his death in 1878.3s The saw mill (site
#1) on Lower Creek Road may have been established by him in the
1830s. It probably was extant by 1838 since the road return of
that year for the survey of Lower Creek Road begins at the "but-
ments of the bridge over the creek near Green Sergeants Mills at a
stake between the race and t)?e creek."37 A raceway at that loca-
tion would not have been necessary for mill operations at the grist
mill on Cold Run but could have served as the head race for the saw

mill.

Throughout the middle decades of the 19th century, the hamlet
at Sergeant’s Mill experienced limited development. The road net-
work was expanded with the opening of Lower Creek Road in 1838,
Pine Hill Road in 1849, and Reading Road in 1878; the original
extension of the latter down Cold Run to Pine Hill Road was aban-
doned in 1879, replaced by the present connection to Route 604. A
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stone arch bridge (site #6) was constructed over Cold Run upon the opening of Pine Hill
Road in 1849, and in 1872 the bridge over the Wickecheoke was replaced by the
covered bridge (site #2). 36 The Schoolhouse was enlarged in 1874. In addition to the
saw mill, Green Sergeant had expanded his milling operations by 1850 to include a

carding machine.39

The 1850 industrial census indicates that the production of Green Sergeant’s
grist and saw mills were valued at $500 and $250 respectively, while that ofthe carding
machine was worth only $150. The census lists one employee for each operation, but
given the small scale of production the work must have been part time, perhaps handled
by one individual. In fact, the household just before that of Green Sergeant in the 1850
census of population was headed by David Jackson, a 36 year-old “miller” who did not
own any real estate. While the saw mill is depicted on the 1860 coimty map, only the
grist mill is listed in the industrial census ofthat year. Asin 1850, it did custom work
exclusively; the reported production, however, was much greater in 1860 than in 1850:
6,000 bushels of wheat were ground worth $6,000,2,000 bushels of com worth $1,700,
and 3,000 bushels of com and oats worth $1,700. Reflecting this larger volrune of
work. Sergeant seems to have employed two millers in 1860. Although the 1860
industrial census states that he had only one employee, the population census of that
year lists the brothers John and George Harden two houses before his, giving both their
occupations as millers. The household between Sergeant and the Hardens is that of
Austin (?) Servis, a harness maker, which suggests that the hamlet was the residence of
an artisan at that time. Although Green Sergeant operated the grist mill with hired
millers in 1850 and 1860, by 1870 he appears to have rented it out. The 1870 industrial
census records that E. G. Philips, who probably rented the mill in that year, did all
custom work which after grinding yielded a profit of $1,600. The saw mill is identified
inthe 1873 county atlas, but must have become a marginal enterprise, as it does not
appear in the 1870 industrial census. 40 According to the 1881 county history “there
[was] still a custom grist- and saw-iriiU”at Sergeant’s Mill. 4i The saw mill evidently
was abandoned by 1894, in whiph year the state geologist surveyed the grist mill,
noting that it operated with a fall of25 feet and 12 horse power net. The grist mill
ceased operations sometime between 1901 and 1905, after which no use was made of

the waterpower. 42

Green Sergeant died in 1878, leaving his property to his
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children, but directing his executor to pay the children of his
deceased son Charles one third of the income generated by the
property until they reached the age of twenty-one.*3 George John-
son, husband of Green Sergeant's daughter Sarah, evidently farmed
the property during this period. He and his family were living”®
with his wife’s aged parents at the time of the 1870 census, which
gives his occupation as farmer, and after the parents’ deaths
apparently continued to reside on the premises. His household
probably occupied the main house in 1880, and the mill and the
miller’s house rented to Edward G. Philips. George Johnson is
listed in the 1880 census as a farmer, and the entry following his
is that of miller Edward G. Philips.The school house was con-
veyed to the school trustees in 1888, and in 1893, Green Sergeant’s
executor sold the remainder of his property to his grandson Richard

Green Johnson, George Johnson’s son.«s

The property still remains in the hands of Richard Green
Johnson’s descendants, except for some acreage subdivided from its
perimeter and the miller’s house which was sold to graphic artist
William Cotton in the 1930s. Although the barns were rebuilt after
their destruction by fire in 1929 and the abandoned mill was demo-
lished in the 1930s, when the covered bridge was threatened with
demolition in 1959 public sentiment for its preservation pre-
vailed. «« The landmark wooden bridge was carefully disassembled
and restored, and a new bridge of sympathetic design erected along-
side to accommodate one lane of traffic, work which was completed
in 1961 .With Green Sergeant’s Covered Bridge as its center-
piece, the former mill hamlet exists today as a residential and
agricultural community whose 19th-century rural character and set-
ting survive substantially intact. Local landowners and conserva-
tionists are currently engaged in establishing a Greenway along
Wickecheoke Creek, and the nomination of the Covered Bridge His-
toric District to the New Jersey and National Registers of Historic

Places complements those efforts.
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Verbal Boundary Description

The boundaries of the Covered Bridge Historic District are
delineated on the attached map entitled "Covered Bridge Historic
District Site Location and Boundary Map", and is verbally described
and justified in the following paragraphs. The site and boundary
map was assembled from current municipal tax maps of Delaware
Township, sheets 5, 6, 10 and 11 which were originally drawn by
Franklin Bohren, C. S., in 1961 and last updated in 1993.

The boundary of the district begins on the south side of Route
604 at the northeast corner of block 34, lot 21 and proceeds south
and west along the east and south sides of that lot to its south-
west corner, also the northwest corner of block 34, lot 21.01, and
Lower Creek Road. From there the boundary runs south along the
east side of Lower Creek Road and west side of lot 21.01 to the
southwest corner of that lot. Turning west across Lower Creek Road
to the southeast corner of block 32, lot 1, the boundary continues
west along the south sides of block 32, lots 1 and 36 across Wicke-
cheoke Creek to the southwest corner of lot 36, then north along
the west side of lot 36 to the northwest corner of that lot and
Route 604, and, crossing Route 604 to the southwest corner of block
31, lot 1, still north along the west side of the latter lot to its
northwest corner on the south side of Sanford Road.

The district boundary proceeds east along the south side of
Sanford Road and the north side of block 31, lot 1 to the northeast
corner of that lot and the intersection of Sanford Road with Upper
Creek Road. The boundary continues east across Upper Creek Road to
the northwest corner of block 18, lot 17 and runs still east along
the north side of lot 17 to Wickecheoke Creek and the northeast
corner of lot 17, which point is also on the west side of block 18,
lot 15. From there the boundary runs north along the creek and the
west side of block 18, lot 15 to a corner of block 18, lot 14, from
where it continues north ancf east along the west and north sides of

lot 15 to the northeast corner of that lot and Pine Hill Road.

The boundary then turns south along the west side of Pine Hill
Road and the east side of block 18, lot 15 to the point where the
straight continuation of the north side of block 21, lot 7 across
Pine Hill Road intersects the east side of block 18, lot 15. From
there the boundary cuts east in a straight line across Pine Hill
Road to the northwest corner of block 21, lot 7, and proceeds east
and south along the north and east sides of lot 7 to the northwest



NPSFofmlO-900-a OMB Appm~No. I0iA-COia
(C)

United States Department of thejnterior

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet Covered Bridge Historic District
Hunterdon County, NJ"

Section number Page

corner of block 21, lot 6. It continues east and south along the
north and east sides of block 21, lot 6 to a southeast corner of
that lot and Reading Road. The boundary proceeds south across
Reading Road to the northeast corner of block 22, lot 29, continues
still south along the east side of lot 29 to the southeast corner
of that lot and Route 604, and crosses Route 604 in a straight line
to the northeast corner of block 34, lot 21 and the place of

beginning.

Verbal Boundary Justification

The boundaries of the Covered Bridge Historic District are
delineated to include the resources and property associated with
the farmstead/mill hamlet, with not only the fewest non-contribu-
ting resources but also to protect the district's historic rural
setting.

Between Upper Creek and Pine Hill Roads, for example, the
district boundary jogs northward to encompass the property along
Wickecheoke Creek which historically formed part of the farmstead/
mill property and still does today. East of Pine Hill Road the
boundary was drawn to exclude modern low density residential deve-
lopment occurring on land subdivided from the farmstead/mill proper-
ty and to include the remnants of the mill hydrosystem on Cold Run,
the site of the mill being on block 21, lot 6, and the "Sergeant”
schoolhouse which was erected on part of the farmstead/mill proper-
ty. South of Route 604 to the east of Wickecheoke Creek, the
district boundary follows the historic farmstead/mill propert
boundary, except for a jog to exclude the modern dwelling on block
34, lot 21.01, which lot also was subdivided from the farm. East
of the creek and south of Sanford Road, the district boundary also
follows the historic property boundaries and includes the stone
house and lot subdivided fro™ the farmstead/mill property in accor-
dance with the will of Charles Sergeant in the 1830s.

UTM References (continued)

5-18503460 4476700
6-18503280 4476560
7 -18502800 4476540
8-18502720 4476920
9-18502700 4477400
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The following information is the same for all of the photo-

Covered Bridge Historic District
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Hunterdon County, NJ

Dennis Bertland: #s 1, 3-6, 8-9 & 11-15
Clarence Brasch: #s 2, 7 and 10

Bertland: October 1998

Brasch: Spring 1998

Dennis Bertland Associates,

P. 0. Box 11, Port Murray, NJ 07865

Photograph direction of view:.

#1
#2

#4

Site #4, NE view

#9

#10,

NE view

barn, SE view

SW view

NE view

wagon house, NE view
NE view

NE view

NW  view

date stone, north view
wagon house, NE view
SW view

NW view f

#s 9 & 10, SW view
#11, NW view
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12/04/1998  4:46 PM objection to nomination ucG 3 199
HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICE

Lawrence W. Johnson
688 Rosemont- Ringoes Road
Stockton N.J, 08559

Ms. Guzzo Administrator

D.E.P.

Division of Parks and Forestry

New Jersey Historic Preservation Office
P.O. Box 404

Trenton N.J. 08625-0404

Dear Ms. Guzzo:

| wish to protest the listing of my entire farm in the Covered Bridge Historic District. My
farm Blk 18 Lot 15- Blk 21 Lot 6 -Blk 32 Lot 1 and Blk 34 lot 21 consists of some 92
acres more ore less. My home is relatively new (post World War I1) and is not included
with the items noted as historic. My family’s stone house had been given by my wife
and myself and deeded to my son several years ago in recognition of his family
heritage . My barns and equipment sheds are not of any historic value .If the Jones
family wishes to include that home which had been referred to as Mille Cotton’s
house(5) on your map - fine -it too is old . The House to the far side of the bridge is
also old though extensive renovations and additions have altered it’s form. The
inclusion of this house is also warranted if for no other reason than its quaint
appearance and history.

But - there is no reason to include my 92 acre working farm in an historic district other
than to .satisfy the land hungry longing of the conservancy. The reality of the
conservancy sponsoring the research for this nomination gives a hint of confusion of
purpose , and conflict of interest.

| did not receive a copy of the proposal prior to the meeting for a vote of the issue. My
letter informing me of the Dec 2. meeting did not include the item instructing land
owners of a possible appeal (page 2). | received that portion of your letter by fax on
Dec. 2 by my request. My notarized objection will be in the mail as soon as | receive
appeal instructions and my time should run from that date. There is some confusion In
the wording of the Rights of Owners section received today. is the reference to a
majority of owners or partial owners of a single property? Is it proper to give 3 votes to
owners of 3 acres and 1 vote to the owner of 92 acres? Do the multiple partial owners
of a single property each have a vote equal to the single vote of a single property
owner? If so deeded can the wife and multiple children each have a vote?

| conclude with the statement that all land is old and only what is built upon that land
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can transform it into something historic. The Three structures noted as historic are
clustered next to the covered bridge and would indeed make a nice historic district but
there it ends. My farm is not in any way Historic..

5i*rely

Mr. Lawrence W. Johnson

Mr~awrence W. Johnson

SUSAN M.AtI!

Holary Public of New Jeney
HyCommission Expires Oct 1,2002

b€tEINI>er S,
\u>Merdo® dounkKi



Christine Todd Whitman Departmen_t _of Environmental Protection Robert C. Shinn, Jr.
Governor Division of Parks & Forestry Commissioner

Historic Preservation Office
PO Box 404
Trenton, N.J. 08625-0404
TEL.: (609)292-2023
FAX: (609)984-0578

January 28, 1999

Ms. Carol Shull
ChiefofRegistration

National Register of Historic Places
National Park Service

Department ofthe Interior
Washington, D.C. 20240

Dear Ms. Shull;

I am pleased to submit the Covered Bridge Historic District, Delaware Township,
Hunterdon County, New Jersey for National Register consideration.

This application has received majority approval from the New Jersey State Review Board
for Historic Sites. All procedures were followed in accordance with regulations published in the
Federal Register.

Should you want any further information concerning this application, please feel free to
contact Dorothy P. Guzzo, Administrator, New Jersey Historic Preservation Office, P.O. Box 404,
Trenton, New Jersey 08625 or call her at (609) 984-0176.

Sincerely,

/ / James F. Hall

/T Deputy State Historic
/! Preservation Officer

New Jersey is an Equal Opportunity Employer
Recycled Paper



